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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Charlottesville Division 
 
 
RIO ASSOCIATES, L.P. 
MIMOSA, L.L.C. 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

 CIVIL ACTION NO.     
AUBREY L. LAYNE, JR., SECRETARY 
VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF  
TRANSPORTATION 
 

Serve: Aubrey L. Layne, Jr. 
Virginia Secretary of Transportation 
Patrick Henry Building, 3rd Floor 
1111 East Broad Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 

 
and  
 
CHARLES A. KILPATRICK, COMMISSIONER  
VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF  
TRANSPORTATION. 

 
Serve: Charles A. Kilpatrick, Commissioner 

 Virginia Dept. of Transportation 
1401 East Broad Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 

 
and  
 
ANTHONY R. FOXX, SECRETARY U.S. 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
 

Serve: Anthony Giorno, Acting United States Attorney for the Western District of Virginia  
U.S. Courthouse and Federal Building 
255 West Main Street,  
Room 130 
Charlottesville, Virginia 22902 
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with a copy by certified mail to 
 
Eric H. Holder, Jr. 
Attorney General 
U.S. Department of Justice  
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20530 

 
and  
 
GREGORY G. NADEAU, ACTING 
ADMINISTRATOR FEDERAL 
HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION 
 

Serve: Anthony Giorno, Acting United States Attorney for the Western District of Virginia  
U.S. Courthouse and Federal Building 
255 West Main Street,  
Room 130 
Charlottesville, Virginia 22902 
 
with a copy by certified mail to 
 
Eric H. Holder, Jr. 
Attorney General 
U.S. Department of Justice  
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20530-0001 

 
and  
 

IRENE RICO, 
VIRGINIA DIVISION ADMINISTRATOR 
FEDERAL HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION 
 
 Serve:  Irene Rico 
  Virginia Division Administrator 
  Federal Highway Administration 
  400 North 8th Street, Suite 750 
  Richmond, VA 23219 
 

Defendants. 
 

COMPLAINT 

The Plaintiffs, RIO ASSOCIATES, L.P. and MIMOSA, L.L.C. (“Plaintiffs”), by and through 

their undersigned counsel, bring this action against AUBREY L. LAYNE, JR., VIRGINIA 
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SECRETARY OF TRANSPORTATION, CHARLES A. KILPATRICK, COMMISSIONER OF 

THE VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, ANYTHONY R. FOXX, 

SECRETARY OF TRANSPORTATION, GREGORY G. NADEAU, ACTING ADMINISTRATOR 

OF THE FEDERAL HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION, and IRENE RICO,  VIRGINIA DIVISION 

ADMINISTRATOR OF THE FEDERAL HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION (“Defendants”) and 

requests that this Court grant the relief sought herein against the Defendants. 

 
NATURE OF ACTION 

1. This is an action for declaratory judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C § 2201 and injunctive relief 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1651 against Defendants, challenging the adequacy of compliance with 

the National Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”), 42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq., and NEPA’s 

implementing regulations for USDOT and FHWA at 23 C.F.R. 771.101, 771.105, 771.09(a)(1), 

771.111(f)(2), 771.115(a),(b),(c), 771.117(a),(b),(d), 771.119(a), 771.130 prior to a project to 

build a Grade Separated Interchange at the Rio Road and Route 29 Interchange, build an 

extension of presently existing Berkmar Drive, and widen Route 29 from the Polo Grounds to 

Towncenter Drive (hereinafter the “Current Projects”).  

2. This is further an action for declaratory judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C § 2201 and injunctive 

relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1651 against Defendants, challenging compliance with Virginia 

Constitution Article 1 § 11 and its prohibition against the use of the power of eminent domain 

without strict compliance with all other legal requirements. 

3. Plaintiffs seek a declaratory order pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 and injunctive relief pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. § 1651 prohibiting VDOT and the FHWA from providing financial assistance and 

acquiring right-of-way for any individual Current Projects that rely on a granted categorical 

exclusions, and prohibiting any funding for individual Current Projects and its contractors from 

contracting for, commencing, or continuing construction of the Current Projects, unless and until  
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such time as VDOT and the FHWA have complied with all requirements of the NEPA, Virginia 

Constitution, and all other applicable law.  

 
PARTIES 

4. Rio Associates, L.P. is a Virginia Limited Partnership established under the laws of the 

Commonwealth of Virginia, having its principal office in the City of Charlottesville, 

Virginia. Plaintiff is engaged in the ownership, management and leasing of real property, 

including property on Route 29 in Albemarle County, Virginia near the intersection of Route 29 

and Rio Road.  Plaintiff is so situated that its interests are immediately and permanently affected 

by Defendants’ below mentioned acts and omissions.  

5. Mimosa, L.L.C. is a Virginia Limited Liability Company established under the laws of the 

Commonwealth of Virginia, having its principal office in the City of Charlottesville, 

Virginia. Plaintiff is engaged in the ownership, management and leasing of real property, 

including property on Route 29 in Albemarle County, Virginia near the intersection of Route 29 

and Rio Road.  Plaintiff is so situated that its interests are immediately and permanently affected 

by Defendants’ below mentioned acts and omissions. 

6. Defendant Aubrey L. Layne, Jr., is Virginia Secretary of Transportation and is sued in his 

official capacity. 

7. Defendant Charles A. Kilpatrick is Commissioner of the Virginia Department of Transportation 

and is sued in his official capacity. 

8. Defendant Anthony R. Foxx is the United States Secretary of Transportation and is sued in his 

official capacity. 

9. Defendant Gregory G. Nadeau is the Acting Administrator of the Federal Highway 

Administration and is sued in his official capacity. 
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10. Defendant Irene Rico is the Virginia Division Administrator of the Federal Highway 

Administration and is sued in her official capacity. 

11. Defendants Layne, Kilpatrick, Foxx, Nadeau, and Rico are responsible for the approval, 

authorization, environmental review, and administration of federally funded and assisted 

transportation projects, and are responsible for compliance with the NEPA’s implementing 

regulations and the Virginia Constitution.  

12. At all relevant times, the Defendants acted in their official capacity and under color of state 

and/or federal law.  

13. The Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

(federal question), 28 U.S.C. § 1367 (supplemental jurisdiction), 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201–2202 

(declaratory judgment and further relief), 28 U.S.C. § 1361 (mandamus), and 5 U.S.C. § 702 

(right of review under Federal Administrative Procedures Act).  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

14. For purposes of the declaratory relief sought in this Complaint, an actual case or controversy 

within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 2201 exists between the parties as to whether the Defendants 

complied with the requirements of the NEPA and the Virginia Constitution as part of their 

approval of the Current Projects. 

15. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a) and (e) for the Western District of 

Virginia, the district wherein the property that is subject of this action is situated.  

 
FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

16. A western Route 29 bypass around Charlottesville was first proposed in 1979 and a location was 

approved in 1990.   

17. As required by the National Environmental Protection Act (NEPA), an Environmental Impact 

Statement (EIS) was prepared in 1993.  The 1993 EIS recognized the need for highway 
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improvements for a number of reasons, including to maintain acceptable traffic service, 

preserving Route 29’s role as a key element in the State Arterial System, fulfilling Route 29’s 

function as a principal arterial highway, and to fulfill Route 29’s role as part of the national 

highway network.  U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, and 

Virginia Department of Transportation, Route 29 Corridor Study, Final Environmental Impact 

Statement Section 4(f)/106 Evaluation

18. The 1993 EIS examined the Route 29 Bypass with a number of other improvements and found 

that “no single alternative by itself will satisfy all of these needs. . . .  Providing improvements 

only to existing Route 29 will not satisfy anticipated future needs for additional highway 

capacity, nor will it satisfactorily fulfill Route 29’s function as an arterial route for through 

traffic.”  Id.   

 S-5 (1993) (Exhibit 1).   

19. A Supplemental EIS was prepared and approved in 2003.  U.S. Department of Transportation 

Federal Highway Administration and Virginia Department of Transportation, Environmental 

Assessment Route 29 Bypass

20. The 2012 EA described the proposed project, including the Route 29 bypass, and relied on prior 

studies for its detailed alternatives analysis.  Id. at 13.   

 3–4 (2012) (Exhibit 2).  However, little was accomplished on the 

project, and in 2012, an Environmental Assessment (EA) was done to examine the current need 

and environmental impacts of the project.  Id. at 3–12.   

21. The statistical analysis in the 2012 EA relied in large part, on the Route 29 bypass, to find that 

the project would relieve congestion on Route 29 by diverting traffic from Route 29 to the new 

parallel bypass road.  Id. at 13–15.  Moreover, the statistics and tables cited in the 2012 EA 

relied on the assumption that the Route 29 bypass would be constructed.  Id.  at 13–14.   

22. In early 2014, VDOT in recognizing the significant lapse of time between the 2012 EA and the 

prior studies relied upon therein, asked the FHWA to review the 2012 Revised EA.  See Letter 
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from Irene Rico, FHWA Div. Adm’r, to Charles A. Kilpatrick, VDOT Comm’r (February 18, 

2014) (Exhibit 3).   

23. In response, in February of 2014, the FHWA rightfully pointed out that VDOT should asses the 

purpose and need of the project, because in the twelve years since the preparation of the last EIS, 

the need appears to have expanded well beyond the existing project limits.  Id. at 1–2.  

Specifically, even including the Route 29 bypass, the FHWA stated that “it is expected that a 

reassessment of the purpose and need will find that it is no longer adequate to support the 

investment in the corridor.”  Id. at 1.   

24. The FHWA, recommended a supplemental EIS, as required by law, to allow both the FHWA 

and VDOT to develop a solution that is supported by the public and localities.  Id. at 1–2. 

25. Following the letter from the FHWA, in an abrupt change of direction, VDOT decided to 

remove the Route 29 bypass (the central piece of prior studies) from the project and reallocate 

the money to projects that were recommended by the Route 29 Solutions initiative.  Virginia 

Department of Transportation, Route 29 Charlottesville Bypass, Project activities suspended as 

of March 2014 (Feb. 20, 2014, 2:03 PM), 

http://www.virginiadot.org/projects/culpeper/rt._29_bypass.asp (Exhibit 4).   

26. In so doing, VDOT rejected the FHWA’s recommendation to do a supplemental EIS and instead 

abandoned the Route 29 bypass and impermissibly restated the project as a package of 

individual projects to minimize their environmental impacts.  See e.g., Virginia Department of 

Transportation, Route 29 Solutions, Route 29 Solutions Projects (Jan. 19, 2014, 1:45 PM), 

http://www.route29solutions.org/ (Exhibit 5). 

27. To the end of undertaking a number of smaller projects, on June 30, 2014, VDOT sought and 

received, approval from the FHWA to designate the widening of Route 29 to Rio Road as a 

Categorical Exclusion (CE). Virginia Department of Transportation, Rte. 29 Widening 
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Categorical Exclusion

28. Moreover, on July 2, 2014, VDOT sought and received approval from the FHWA to designate 

the Rio Road Grade Separated Interchange as a CE.   Virginia Department of Transportation, 

 (September 3, 2014) (Exhibit 6).   

Rte. 29 and Rio Road Grade Separated Intersection Categorical Exclusion

29. In both cases, VDOT relies on the catchall provisions in 23 C.F.R. §771.117(d).  Exhibit 5, at 1. 

Exhibit 6, at 1.   

 (August 29, 2014) 

(Exhibit 7).   

30. As a state project, on August 27, 2014 VDOT completed the state required Preliminary 

Environmental Inventory for the Berkmar Drive extension.  Virginia Department of 

Transportation, Berkmar Drive Extended Preliminary Environmental Inventory

31. This cursory and disjointed environmental analysis is legally inadequate as recognized by 

VDOT and the FHWA in past decisions. 

 1 (August 27, 

2014) (Exhibit 8).   

32. Philip A. Shucet (Shucet) is the former Virginia Secretary of Transportation and now owns the 

Philip A. Shucet Company.  Shucet is under contract with VDOT and is employed as the Leader 

of the Project Delivery Advisory Panel.  In this capacity he is the interface with the community 

in connection to the Current Projects.  Exhibit 9.  

33. In direct conflict with the segmented categorical exclusion approach, Shucet, has stated that “all 

three elements of the parallel roads network must be funded and delivered as a single package, 

with the Rio grade-separated intersection being constructed and open before releasing traffic on 

the Berkmar and Hillsdale Extensions.  If funding were to be removed from any of the parallel 

road elements, my recommendation to Secretary Layne and to the CTB would be to remove the 

funding from all the parallel road elements.”  E-mail from Shucet, Leader Project Delivery 

Advisory Panel, to Chuck Lebo, Property Owner (February 8, 2015, 12:07 EST) (Exhibit 10). 
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34. As the interface with the community, Shucet speaks with VDOT’s authority.  As Shucet stated in 

the above email, “Secretary Layne is aware of my position and is aware of the response I am 

sharing with you today. . . .  I will also share my reply with Secretary Layne, Commissioner 

Kilpatrick and other appropriate parties.”  Exhibit 10.  

35. Moreover, Secretary Aubrey Lane himself has stated that the Current Projects will not solve the 

transportation issues in Albemarle County and that a bypass is still possible.  Specifically, in an 

interview he stated that “[w]hen I was a CTB member, I did vote for the bypass. . . . I don’t 

believe a green field project has a very good chance of getting accomplished, but that doesn’t 

mean we don’t have existing roads – whether its 250, 15, 64 around connecting that we can use 

to make a better bypass through that area.” Sandy Hausman, Transportation Secretary Wants 

Charlottesville Traffic Congestion Eased, WVTF Public Radio, Feb. 13, 2015 10:55am, 

http://wvtf.org/post/transportation-secretary-wants-charlottesville-traffic-congestion-eased.  

(Exhibit 11).  

36. Although the purpose and need of the project has clearly expanded well beyond the project’s 

capacity, even with the Route 29 bypass, VDOT has removed the Route 29 bypass and 

illogically claims the purpose and need is fulfilled by smaller projects.  See Exhibit 5. 

37. Project history, along with Shucet’s and Layne’s statements, make clear that the Current Projects 

are themselves segmented from one another, but have also been segmented from the larger long 

range project in the area, which includes a possible bypass like the one in the 1993 and 2012 

studies. 

38. VDOT is making preparations to exercise its eminent domain power to complete the Rio Road 

GSI and other components of the Current Projects.   

39. VDOT has contacted Plaintiffs in an attempt to acquire right-of-way for the construction of the 

Rio Road GSI. 
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40.  VDOT has informed Plaintiffs that if they do not accept VDOT’s offer of just compensation, 

then VDOT will use it’s quick-take eminent domain power to take their property, pursuant to 

Virginia Code § 25.1-300, et. seq..  

41. VDOT may not exercise this power without first ensuring that all statutory requirements are 

strictly followed.   

42. Given the deficiencies related to segmentation, purpose and need, and environmental studies, 

VDOT’s exercise of its eminent domain power is in violation of Virginia Constitution. 

43. Should Defendant VDOT be allowed to construct the Rio Road GSI and exercise the power of 

eminent domain to take Plaintiff Mimosa, L.L.C.’s property, Plaintiff Mimosa, L.L.C. will 

experience immediate and permanent harm in the loss of its property.  Plaintiff Mimosa, L.L.C. 

will further experience adverse impacts to its property in terms of detrimental changes to traffic 

flow and decreased access to its property.  As an immediately adjoining land owner Plaintiff 

Mimosa, L.L.C. will also experience adverse environmental harm, including, but not limited to, 

storm water impacts, and petroleum contaminated media impacts.  

44. Should Defendant VDOT be allowed to construct the Rio Road GSI and exercise the power of 

eminent domain to take Plaintiff Rio Associates, L.P.’s property, Plaintiff Rio Associates, L.P. 

will experience immediate and permanent harm in the loss of its property.  Plaintiff Rio 

Associates, L.P. will further experience adverse impacts to its property in terms of detrimental 

changes to traffic flow and decreased access to its property.  As an immediately adjoining land 

owner Plaintiff Rio Associates, L.P. will also experience adverse environmental harm, including, 

but not limited to, storm water impacts, and petroleum contaminated media impacts. 

(Defendant’s unlawful segmentation in violation of the National Environmental Policy Act) 

Count I 

45. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate herein by reference the foregoing allegations.  
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46. 40 C.F.R. 1508.27(b)(7) states that in determining whether an action has a significant impact on 

the environment, “[s]ignificance cannot be avoided by terming an action temporary or breaking 

it down into small component parts.”  

47. 40 C.F.R. 1508.25(a)(1) states that actions are connected and should be discussed in the same 

statement if they “(i) automatically trigger other actions which may require environmental 

impact statements. (ii) Cannot or will not proceed unless other actions are taken previously or 

simultaneously. (iii) Are independent parts of a larger action and depend on the larger action for 

their justification.” 

48. 40 C.F.R. 1508.25(a)(2) states that “[c]umulative actions, [are those] which when viewed with 

other proposed actions have cumulatively significant impacts and should therefore be discussed 

in the same impact statement.” 

49. Title 23 of the Code of Federal Regulations § 771.05(a) requires that “[t]o the fullest extent 

possible, all environmental investigations, reviews, and consultations be coordinated as a single 

process, and compliance with all applicable environmental requirements be reflected in the 

environmental review document required by this regulation.”  

50. Title 23 of the Code of Federal Regulations § 771.111(f)(2) requires that the action evaluated in 

each EIS or finding of no significant impact “[h]ave independent utility or independent 

significance, i.e., be usable and be a reasonable expenditure even if no additional transportation 

improvements to the area are made.”   

51. VDOT has segmented the Current Projects from one another, and the long range Route 29 

Project as a whole, to circumvent the requirement of an EA or EIS and elected to pursue CEs.   

52. VDOT has segmented the Current Projects from one another, and the long range Route 29 

Project as a whole, to  minimize their perceived environmental impact. 

53. The Current Projects are part of a single project and have cumulative impacts requiring an EIS. 
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54. The segmented categorical exclusion studies do not examine the cumulative environmental 

impacts of each project and are not part of a single process. 

55. Moreover, the GSI and Route 29 Expansion were originally included in the 1993 EIS as part of a 

possible comprehensive Route 29 improvement plan, and the FHWA recommended a 

Supplemental EIS as recently as February 2014.  In 1993 VDOT and the FHWA conceded that 

an EIS was required.  Exhibit 1, and Exhibit 3, 1–2.  

56. As Shucet has stated, “All three elements of the parallel roads network must be funded and 

delivered as a single package, with the Rio grade-separated intersection being constructed and 

open before releasing traffic on the Berkmar and Hillsdale Extensions.  If funding were to be 

removed from any of the parallel road elements, my recommendation to Secretary Layne and to 

the CTB would be to remove the funding from all the parallel road elements.”  (Exhibit 10).  

This statement, along with Secretary Layne’s statement that a bypass is still possible, and the 

prior study’s conclusion that smaller projects without the inclusion of a bypass would not 

address the needs of Albermarle County, fall squarely within the purview of 40 C.F.R. 

1508.25(a)(1)’s definition of connected actions.   Connected actions are those that trigger other 

actions requiring an EIS, cannot or will not proceed unless other actions are taken previously or 

simultaneously, and are independent parts of a larger action that depend on the larger action for 

their justification.   

57.  To assess the cumulative environmental impacts of the Current Projects an EIS or Supplemental 

EIS, evaluating all the Current Projects and proposed projects in a single study and process must 

be prepared as required by the NEPA. 

58. Defendants’ failure to investigate and review the Current Projects in a single process in an 

Environmental Impact Statement or Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement and instead 

segment the projects to minimize their environmental impacts was arbitrary, capricious, an abuse 
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of discretion, and otherwise not in accordance with the law.  Accordingly, Defendants should be 

enjoined from any and all activities in connection with the Current Projects that may adversely 

affect the rights of the Plaintiffs in their use and enjoyment of their property, unless and until 

such time as the Defendants have fully complied with the NEPA.  Unless Defendants are so 

enjoined, Plaintiffs will be irreparably harmed in their business and environment and by the 

taking of their property.  

(Impermissible use of Categorical Exclusions in Violation of the National Environmental Policy 

Act) 

Count II 

59. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate herein by reference the foregoing allegations.  

60. The purposes of the NEPA are “[t]o declare a policy which will encourage productive and 

enjoyable harmony between man and his environment; to promote efforts which will prevent or 

eliminate damage to the environment and biosphere and stimulate the health and welfare of man; 

[and] to enrich the understanding of the ecological systems and natural resources important to 

the Nation . . . .”  42 U.S.C. § 4321 (1970). 

61. Title 23 of the Code of Federal Regulations § 771.109 makes clear that the regulation applies to 

the Current Projects because the FHWA has exercised extensive management and control over 

the projects as granting the CEs and as otherwise outlined herein.  

62. Title 23 of the Code of Federal Regulations § 771.115(a) states that actions that significantly 

affect the environment require an EIS.   

63. Title 23 of the Code of Federal Regulations § 771.130(a)(1) requires the preparation of a 

Supplemental EIS whenever “[c]hanges to the proposed action would result in significant 

environmental impacts not evaluated in the EIS; or (2) New information or circumstances 

relevant to the environmental concerns and bearing on the proposed action or its impacts would 
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result in significant environmental impacts not evaluated in the EIS.” 

64. Title 23 of the Code of Federal Regulations § 771.115(c) states that actions “in which the 

significance of the environmental impact is not clearly defined require the preparation of an 

environmental assessment.”   

65. 40 CFR 1508.8(a) defines direct effects as those effects that are caused “by action and occur at 

the same time and place.” 

66. 40 CFR 1508.8(b) defines indirect effects as those effects that are caused by action “later in time 

or farther removed in distance, but are still reasonably foreseeable . . . [and] may include growth 

inducing effects and other effects related to induced changes in the pattern of land use, 

population density or growth rate, and related effects on air and water and other natural systems, 

including ecosystems . . . .  Effects includes ecological (such as the effects on natural resources 

and on the components, structures, and functioning of affected ecosystems), aesthetic, historic, 

cultural, economic, social, or health, whether direct, indirect, or cumulative.  Effects may also 

include those resulting from actions which may have both beneficial and detrimental effects, 

even if on balance the agency believes that the effect will be beneficial.” 40 CFR 1508.8(b) 

states that the terms effects and impacts are synonymous.  

67. The effects and impacts of the Current Projects and long range Route 29 package are such that 

an EIS or Supplemental EIS is required as outlined herein.  

68. VDOT and the FHWA have failed to conduct an EIS as to the Current Projects without the 

inclusion of the Route 29 Bypass. 

69. VDOT and the FHWA have failed to conduct an EA as to the Current Projects without the 

inclusion of the Route 29 Bypass. 

70. VDOT and the FHWA have failed to conduct a Supplemental EIS, as the FHWA itself 

recommended, as to the Current Projects without the inclusion of the Route 29 Bypass. 
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71. The removal of the Route 29 Bypass from the project was a significant change as defined in 

Title 23 of the Code of Federal Regulations § 771.130(a)(1), and will have a significant 

environmental impact on properties neighboring the Current Projects, including Plaintiffs’ 

properties, which will now bear the brunt of the new traffic, without the benefit of the Route 29 

bypass.  

72. The Code of Federal Regulations requires that categorical exclusions must not “involve 

significant environmental impacts”, must not “induce significant impacts to planned growth or 

land use for the area”, must not “involve, significant air, noise, or water quality impacts”, must 

not “induce significant impacts on travel patterns”, and must not “individually or cumulatively, 

have any significant environmental impacts.”  23 C.F.R. § 771.117(a).   

73. The Current Projects violate § 771.117 because they have significant environmental impacts, 

including but not limited to storm water impacts, on Plaintiffs’ properties, as well as nearby 

bodies of water, including the Rivanna River.  These environmental impacts are magnified when 

viewed in light of other impermissibly segmented Route 29 projects.   

74. As to the prohibition on significant effects on planned growth and travel patterns, by design, the 

Current Projects violate the NEPA requirements.  Specifically, the purported purpose and need 

of the Current Projects are to affect planned growth and travel patterns by improving traffic 

flow.   

75. Even if the Current Projects were properly granted CEs, the projects still violate the Code of 

Federal Regulations §771.117(b).  §771.117(b) states that “[a]ny action which normally would 

be classified as a CE but could involve unusual circumstances” requires further environmental 

studies.  Unusual circumstances includes, among others, projects with significant environmental 

impacts and projects with substantial controversy on environmental grounds.  Id. 

76. The Current Projects involve many unusual circumstances, including storm water impacts and 
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decades of environmental controversy.  The required environmental studies have not been done 

since the 1990s, as recognized by the FHWA, and the Current Projects are in violation of 

§771.117(b) in that respect. 

77. VDOT’s reliance on 23 C.F.R. §771.117(d) is unlawful.  §771.117(d) states that “[a]dditional 

actions which meet the criteria for a CE in the CEQ regulations (40 CFR 1508.4) and paragraph 

(a) of this section may be designated as CEs only after Administration approval.”  23 C.F.R. 

§771.117(d) (2009).  §771.117(d) gives a non-exhaustive list of examples of these actions and 

includes, among others, fringe parking facilities, truck weigh stations or rest areas, right-of-way 

creation or disposal, changes in access control, bus storage or maintenance facilities, rail and bus 

buildings, bus transfer facilities, rail storage, and acquisition of land for protective purposes.  Id.  

Contrary to VDOT’s position, §771.117(d) does not grant a carte blanche exception to the 

purpose of the NEPA and the environmental requirements created thereunder.   

78. Unlike the examples cited in §771.117(d) the Rio Road GSI, for example, is a highly complex 

$84 million road project on Plaintiffs’ front door steps.  The environmental implications of the 

Current Projects are wholly disanalogous to the examples given in §771.117(d) and the CE is in 

violation of the same.    

79. The Current Projects substantially change the layout and functions of connecting roadways, and 

do have significant social, economic, and environmental effects further making the CE process 

inappropriate even when viewed as segmented.   

80. Defendants’ use of the categorical exclusion process for the Rio Road GSI and the Route 29 

Widening instead of conducting an Environmental Assessment, Supplemental Environmental 

Impact Statement, or Environmental Impact Statement was arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of 

discretion, and otherwise not in accordance with the law.  Accordingly, Defendants should be 

enjoined from any and all activities in connection with the Current Projects that may adversely 
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affect the rights of the Plaintiffs in their use and enjoyment of their property, unless and until 

such time as the Defendants have fully complied with the NEPA.  Unless Defendants are so 

enjoined, Plaintiffs will be irreparably harmed in their business and environment and by the 

taking of their property. 

 

(Purpose and Need Deficiencies in Violation of the National Environmental Policy Act) 

Count III 

81. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate herein by reference the foregoing allegations.  

82. Defendant FHWA recommended a Supplemental EIS.  Exhibit 3.  

83. 40 CFR 1502.13 states that an EIS “shall briefly specify the underlying purpose and need to 

which the agency is responding.” 

84. To avoid this requirement VDOT has segmented the Current Projects and utilized the categorical 

exclusion process. 

85. However, if VDOT were to undertake an EIS or Supplemental EIS, then it would be apparent 

that the purpose and need of the project is no longer addressed by the Current Projects.  

86. Specifically, if, as conceded by the FHWA in the Feb. 18, 2014 letter, the purpose and need for 

the Route 29 project expanded beyond the capacity of the Route 29 bypass, then the purpose and 

need for the Route 29 project has expanded beyond what little improvement, if any, the Current 

Projects can provide.   

87. For example, it is projected that the Rio Road GSI will allow traffic to increase operating speeds 

of 10 to 20 mph for 0.9 miles.  Dexter R. Williams, P.E., Memorandum to SMART29 Coalition 

3 (November 18, 2014) (Exhibit 12).  The monetary cost of this miniscule benefit is $84 million.  

Virginia Department of Transportation, Route 29 Solutions, Rio Road Intersection (Jan. 19, 

2014, 1:45 PM), http://www.route29solutions.org/learn_more/2._rio_road_intersection.asp 
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(Exhibit 13). 

88. No further analysis of the benefits of the Rio Road GSI and 29 widening is possible because 

studies of those improvements, without the Route 29 bypass and other improvements, have not 

been done.  Id. at 4.   

89. As stated by the FHWA in the February 14 letter, the purpose and need of the entire Route 29 

project is unknown, but likely is “no longer adequate to support the investment in the corridor.”  

Exhibit 3, 1.    

90. Moreover the data cited in the 2012 EA, is in part, nearly 20 years old and includes 

improvements no longer included in the Route 29 project. Exhibit 2, 13–15.   

91. Defendants have impermissibly segmented the Current Projects to avoid coming under the 

purview of the NEPA purpose and need requirements.  

92. Defendants’ failure to investigate and review the purpose and need of the Current Projects in an 

EIS or Supplemental EIS was arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, and otherwise not in 

accordance with the law.  Accordingly, Defendants should be enjoined from any and all 

activities in connection with the Current Projects that may adversely affect the rights of the 

Plaintiffs in their use and enjoyment of their property unless and until such time as the 

Defendants have fully complied with the NEPA.  Unless Defendants are so enjoined, Plaintiffs 

will be irreparably harmed in their business and environment and by the taking of their property. 

(Violation of Virginia Constitution Article 1 § 11) 

Count IV 

93. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate herein by reference the foregoing allegations.  

94. The Commonwealth can only exercise its Constitutional power of eminent domain by following 

strictly all statutory prerequisites and failure to fully comply with the prerequisites renders the 

exercise of the power unconstitutional and impermissible .  See e.g., Hoffman Family, L.L.C. v. 
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City of Alexandria, 272 Va. 274 (2006); City of Richmond v. Childrey, 103 S.E. 630, 631–32 

(1920) (stating that “one claiming the power must bring himself strictly within the grant, both as 

to the extent and manner of its exercise” and that “[t]he requirement of the law must be fulfilled, 

whether reasonable or unreasonable”) and Charles v. Big Sandy, 142 Va. 512, 517 (1925) 

(stating that the statutory requirements “are regarded as in the nature of conditions precedent, 

which are not only to be observed and complied with before the courts can exercise their 

compulsory powers to deprive the owner of his land, but the party instituting such proceedings 

must show affirmatively such compliance.”).    See also VA. Const. art. I, § 11.   

95. Given VDOT’s numerous statutory compliance deficiencies, any exercise of the power of 

eminent domain would be illegitimate and any condemnation cases initiated would be dismissed 

for lack of jurisdiction.  Before the Commonwealth exercises its eminent domain power it must 

perform the statutorily required EIS. 

96. If the Commonwealth is permitted to move forward without being required to affirmatively 

show it has complied with the statutory requirements for exercising its power of eminent 

domain, then it will irreparably harm Plaintiffs by unlawfully taking their property.  

97. If the Commonwealth is permitted to exercise its power of eminent domain without having first 

complied with the statutory prerequisites, then the Commonwealth will impose upon private 

property owners, and Plaintiffs, the costs of challenging and proving the Commonwealth’s 

failure to comply with the statutory prerequisites.  

98. These costs will ultimately be borne by the Commonwealth, pursuant to Virginia Code § 25.1-

419, and this Court should act to prevent this unnecessary expenditure of state and federal tax 

dollars and spare Plaintiffs, from whom the Commonwealth intends to condemn property, from 

being subjected to an unconstitutional taking of their property. 

99. For the Commonwealth to exercise the power of eminent domain it must abide by the Virginia 
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Constitution and follow strictly all statutory prerequisites to exercise the power.   

100.  The Virginia Constitution requires that the condemnor strictly follow all requirements and 

protections of the law.  See VA. Const. art. I, § 11.   

101. Defendants’ failure to strictly comply with the NEPA and other statutory requirements in 

relation to the Current Projects violates the Virginia Constitution as to Defendant VDOT’s 

exercise of the power of eminent domain.  Accordingly, Defendants should be enjoined from 

any and all activities in connection with the Current Projects, including the acquisition of 

property by the power of eminent domain, and any other activity that may adversely affect the 

rights of the Plaintiffs in their use and enjoyment of their property, unless and until such time as 

the Defendants have fully complied with the NEPA and Virginia Constitution.  Unless 

Defendants are so enjoined, Plaintiffs will be irreparably harmed in their business and 

environment and by the taking of their property. 

 
REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully ask that this Court enter judgment against each of the 

Defendants, jointly and severally, and award the Plaintiff the following relief: 

1. Declare the obligations and duties of the Defendants and their employees, grantees, agents, 

and contractors, to comply fully with the requirements of the NEPA and the Virginia 

Constitution prior to acquiring right-of-way, financing, or contracting construction of the 

Current Projects and other appropriate Route 29 Projects. 

2. Issue temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief directing all Defendants and 

their grantees, employees, agents, and contractors, to refrain from any acquisition of right-of-

way, financing, contracting, or construction of the Current Projects and other appropriate 

Route 29 Projects, unless and until Defendants have fully complied with the requirements of 
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the NEPA, the Virginia Constitution, and any other applicable laws. 

3. Award Plaintiffs their attorney’s fees, costs, and disbursements; and 

4. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem necessary and proper. 

 
Rio Associates, L.P. and Mimosa, L.L.C.  
By Counsel 

 
 
 
 
__/s/ Mark D. Obenshain__
MARK D. OBENSHAIN (VSB #27476) 

_____________ 

JUSTIN M. WOLCOTT (VSB #83367) 
OBENSHAIN LAW GROUP  
420 Neff Avenue Suite 130 
Harrisonburg, Virginia 22801 
(540) 208-0727 
(540) 266-3568 (fax) 
mdo@obenshainlaw.com 
jmw@obenshainlaw.com 
Counsel for Plaintiffs 
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